THE CHURCH PANAGIA KATHOLIKI
Historical Background

One kilometer from the centre of Gastouni, a small town in north-western Peloponnesus, in the middle of a large area of fields, there is a Byzantine masterpiece which has been saved for more than 1.000 years. Its name is “Panagia Katholiki” and it was built in honor of the Assumption of Holy Mary, mother of Jesus.

There is not a lot of information regarding the history of this church because there is neither written information nor any inscriptions from the era it was built. Therefore, there have been disagreement about the correct date of construction, but it is estimated in the 11th or 12th century A.D.

The name “Katholiki” is not related with the Catholic doctrine, but the church has this name because it belonged to the “Moreos’ Catholic Church” (the whole of it) or because it was the catholic part (main part) of an old monastery.

Some claim that in the place of the church, in ancient times, there was a temple where Dimitra, the goddess of agriculture, was worshipped. Also, there was a temple dedicated to Hades, mythological facts connected to death-just like the “sleep” (Assumption) of Holy Mary in the Christian church.
The church was designed by a very capable architect, who successfully combined the Byzantine architecture with elements of the western world.

During the 13th century, when the Franks ruled our country, the church faced changes, probably by some western monastery order, in order to serve the Western dogma. This is the reason why we are able to see some architectural influences from Western arts.

After the end of the Frankish domination in 1427, the church began to be used again by the Orthodox dogma. During that period the two side entrances were blocked and the remaining architectural elements were removed. 

In 1921, the church was declared a historical preserved national monument.

Exterior Description
Katholiki belongs to the inscribed cruciform churches with dome. This type of churches appears in the Greek area during the second half of the 10th century. 
The church of Holy Mother (Panagia) Katholiki is relatively small-sized measuring 14m. long and 10.20 m wide on the outer side. Its maximum height is 10m.

The church has been built with the brick-surrounded stonework technique. Most specifically, stoneblocks made from limestone, which are surrounded by thin bricks, have been used to build the walls. Features which characterize the exterior side of the building is the widely used jagged strips, the three-arch, two-arch and one-arch windows, the fitted glazed plates (decorative ones), as well as the use of earlier architectural parts.

The southern side, which nowadays is the main façade of Katholiki, is characterized by the vividly decorated three-arch window and the blocked opening of the southern gate of the church.

On the northern side one can make out letters of the Greek alphabet used for decoration.

On the western side there is a posterior addition of an outer narthex.

On the eastern side one is able to see the three-sided conch of the altar with a three-arch window and the decorative theme of the radial wheel (sun).

The dome is octagonal with a simple window on each side. It is covered with hand-made byzantine-type tiles, which were constructed more recently. At the moment, a process of preservation is taking place at the exterior of the church. 

Now let us move to the interior of the church.

Interior Description

As mentioned before, Katholiki belongs to the inscribed cruciform churches with dome.

The church consists of a square, within which the church’s cruciform and the three-part bema is inscribed. We can also make out the three-part narthex on the western side of the church.

The four bays of the cross are covered by vaults.

The dome is supported upon two piers on the west and the church’s two dividing walls on the east. The bases where pillars rest constitute parts of earlier monuments (spolia). The use of architectural parts of earlier monuments is common in churches.

The chancel is positioned higher than the main church on three stairs and is divided by it via the newer-constructed marble chancel screen. 

A considerate part of the inner surfaces are covered by frescos, which belong to at least three phases. The dating of the earliest phase needs research. The frescos of the 2nd phase are dated to the beginning of the 18th century (since 1702 according to an inscription), whereas those of the 3rd phase are more recent. Unfortunately, a substantial part of the frescos has been destroyed both by dampness and the longtime soot (wax and incense).

However, we can point out that while icon painters of byzantine churches follow a certain type in order to classify their themes on particular zones of the church, the hagiographers of Katholiki at the early 18th century select the themes freely. The classical theme of Holy Mother holding the infant Christ is chosen for the conch of the Chancel.

For the past years works of conservation and cleaning of the frescos are taking place in the church.

The exterior – The Belfry
On the outside and at a 15-metre distance from the church the tall belfry is located.
 It is a newer construction of the 19th or beginning of 20th century, built on a square base with a total height of 16.40 m. and consisting of three horizontal parts which correspond to three different constructional stages.
The first section which is 10.35 metres high is made from rubble with protruding quoins at the corners as well as around the arched entrance. 

The interior is cylindrical with stone ascending stairs and at the low level of the eastern side there is a fitted marble embossed plate with arched ending and classic decoration.
The first section of the belfry dates back at the end of 19th century.

The second section, which starts at the height of 10.35 metres up until 14.90 metres, was constructed by compact bricks and there is a two-arch opening on each side. This is where the bells are hung and its construction is dated at the era between the two World Wars.

Finally, the third part, starting at 14.90 metres and ending at 16.40 metres, comprises from a later-constructed dome made from reinforced concrete.

The ascent to the top floor is done via an iron spiral staircase.

The exterior area of Panagia Katholiki is supplemented by a row of 11 tall palm trees, which stand opposite the belfry along the road line.

According to sources (Mr. Georgios Kordopatis), there was an outspread palm tree forest around the church. In fact, the church was the centre of a square, on each side of which there were 11 palm trees.

The palm tree forest was uprooted before 1940 so as fields available for agriculture could be produced, so nowadays only 11 palm trees still remain there.

Legends – traditions – customs

The miracle in the years of the Ottoman Empire
It is worthwhile mentioning the miracle of Virgin Mary in the years of the Ottoman domination, whose representations are pictured in the interior part of the church. These representations were created shortly before 1924, as G. Papandreou reports in this book “Ileia through the centuries”

The tradition reports that an Arab under the order of the pasha had to destroy the icon of Virgin Mary with a hatchet, but suddenly the Arab died and ascended into the sky. The Turks then were about to kill the Christians with the charge that they had killed the Arab, but after prayers by the Christians, the Arab was presented dead in front of the church keeping a palm. 

Afterwards, people gathered together with the archpriest, who promises to the surprised Turks that he can resurrect the Arab. Then, after everybody’s prayers, the dead resurrects in front of the Turks and narrated that during his ascension he went to Arabia, where the pasha’s sister gave him the palm in order to bring it to Gastouni. The palm was planted there and the pasha ordered that the lands which belong to the church from ancient times remain intact.
Burning of the Arab
  The church celebrates twice a year, on the 15th of August, the day of the Assumption of Virgin Mary, and the second day after Easter Day, when the custom of the “burning of the Arab” is revived. A dummy of the Arab is burnt, which symbolizes the banishment of evil.
Thus, we burn our old bad self after the redemption of Easter so that our new self can be born pure and clean, free of the darkness that the past brought.
Of course, the church performs liturgies every Sunday during the whole year.

Therefore, we attended the mass and watched the Divine service recently in this peaceful and devout church of Panagia Katholiki. Along with us, there were many residents of the area, who are particularly fond of this church which is an important monument and a real treasure of the area.

And…. Because “monuments are speaking”, we were able to listen to its voice asking for our love, respect and care for the protection and preservation of our cultural heritage.

